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Fig. 268. Gold-embroidered banner (labarum) with the icon of Saint George the Dragon-slayer,
dated 1731. Donated by Hadji Soumelidis Zamanos and signed by the Trapezuntine embroideress
Theodosia Kasimbouri.



[Figs 268-270 and 272-277 are
of Refugee Treasures in the
Collection of the Exchange of
Populations, in the Benaki
Museum, Athens, and were
photographed specially for the
present publication. |

[* For the location of Tzanicha
(Turk. Canca) on the south bank of
the Kanis-Charsites (Turk. Harsit),
see historical Map 38 of the theme
of Chaldia, on p. 272, and plan of
the Byzantine fortress on p. 276.]
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Argyroupolis — Giimiishane:
mining capital of Pontos
by Anna Ballian

The founding and the heyday of the City of Silver, Giimiishane, are
bound closely to the exploitation of the mineral wealth of Pontos and to
the administrative organization of mines in the Ottoman Empire. Pontos
had been known for its metals ever since Antiquity. Documentary sources
from the period of the Grand Komnenoi indicate that the region was at
that time self-sufficient in metals and Trebizond was the centre of silver-
ware production. Early Ottoman sources confirm this state of affairs and
clearly show that mining and metalworking were among the most im-
portant occupations of the Pontian Greeks.

The discovery of silver-bearing ore at the Byzantine fortress of Tza-
nicha, known as Canca to the Ottomans, in the mountainous province of
Chaldia, is dated by Greek sources to the early sixteenth century. In
accordance with Ottoman practice, a mint was set up close to the mines
at Canca in 1546, and the sultan’s revenues from the mines were recorded
in the Trebizond tax registers of 1553. The mining town, which the local
people named initially Kan, was built on the lower slopes of Tzanicha*
fortress; it was first referred to as Giimiishane in 1598. The Turkish
traveller Evliya Celebi described it in 1644 as rich and populous.

Some of the earliest inhabitants of Giimiishane came from the sur-
rounding area, others were paroikoi (dependent peasants) of the Soumela
Monastery, dispatched by the monastery to work in the mines. The same
phenomenon is observed in the Balkans, where monasteries held their
lands and privileges in exchange for the services they provided in further-
ing exploitation of the imperial revenues. The city soon attracted a
population from the wider region of Pontos, from the shores of the Black
Sea, Trebizond, and Lazica. This is largely explained by the fact that
Ottoman regulations governing mines granted the mining community tax
exemptions and a degree of profit-sharing from their exploitation.

The initial trend for the population to concentrate in Chaldia was
succeeded in about the mid-seventeenth century by a reverse movement,
in which the population spread out beyond the frontiers of Chaldia and
Pontos. Miners moved from one place to another to find new veins for
exploitation and created new mining settlements in the process. Follow-
ing the course of the River Charsites (Kanis), the Chaldian miners
established mining colonies along the shores of the Black Sea, expanded
into the mining areas around Erzurum and Bayburt, took over the alum
mines of Sebinkarahisar (Byzantine Koloneia) and, descending the River
Euphrates, settled in Kapan (Keban) and Argana (Ergani) in the region of
Diyarbakir. By the eighteenth century, they were widely renowned, and
around 1730 they were invited to operate the Ahtala mines, in the pa-
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shalik of Ahiyka (Akhaltzikhe), where later King Irakli of Georgia granted
them the homonymous monastery of Ahtala.

The increasing importance of Giimiishane is reflected in the eccle-
siastical structure of the province of Chaldia. In the mid-sixteenth cen-
tury the area was under the jurisdiction of the Metropolitan of Trebizond
who, conforming with tradition, appointed a descendant of the Byzantine
overlords of Tzanicha fortress as choroepiskopos, delegate bishop of the
mining area. By 1617, the ancient Bishopric of Chaldia had been re-
established, while at some time before 1657 it was raised to an arch-
bishopric and in 1776 to a metropolitan see. Greek sources mention that
when the mines were at their peak of activity the town of Giimiishane
alone consisted of ten parishes, six of them Greek with 2,250 families,
one Armenian with 180 families, and three Turkish of which one is said to
have comprised 200 families.

According to Ottoman mining law, the land belonged to the sultan and
its revenues to the imperial treasury. The general administrator of mines
was a salaried Muslim official, the maden emini. The superintendent of
mines was known in Greek as the archimetallourgos (literally, ‘chief
metallurgist’), and in Turkish as madenci usta bast (literally, ‘chief master
miner’). The superintendent was a Christian - a Greek, except on one
occasion when he was an Armenian. He was chosen from among the
‘chief metallurgists’ of the local mines. Miners were exempted from the
taxes Christians normally paid and were looked upon as privileged sub-
jects of the sultan. The villages and districts that provided such services
as transportation and the supply of charcoal, or the guarding of the mines
were subject to the jurisdiction of the laws concerning mines and were
independent of the local Ottoman authorities.

The relationship between the Muslim maden emini and the Christian
superintendent determined the development of the mining community. In
the seventeenth century, one of the local Ottoman lords, known as timar-
holders or derebeys, was appointed maden eminz; it was his responsibility
to choose the superintendent. But it was the master miners themselves
who exercised effective control over the product of the mines. Conflict
was inevitable.

In 1649, the local ttmar-holders appointed the Armenian Sanoz, in an
attempt to break the power of the Greek master miners; however, Sanoz
was accused of embezzlement and was hanged. There followed the as-
sassination of three superintendents, all members of the Sarasitis family,
while one archbishop, Euthymios Phytianos, was compelled to renounce
his see. Finally, when the superintendent loannis Sarasitis was murdered
in the centre of the goldsmiths’ market in 1722, men of local standing in
Chaldia sent their representative, Hadji Soumelidis Zamanos, to the
sultan’s court. He succeeded in securing a more favourable regime for
the mines, which accorded with the administrative reforms being intro-
duced at the time in the Ottoman Empire. After 1722, it was an official of



Fig. 269. Carved wooden pectoral
with silver-gilt and enamelled
case, 1736. Dedicated by Michail
Sarasitis, son of loannis.
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the sultan’s court who was appointed maden emini, while the super-
intendent was chosen with the consent of the Christian master miners.
His appointment was ratified by the sultan in person at a special cere-
mony, in the course of which the master miner so chosen was formally
presented with a robe of honour and a sword.

During the eighteenth century the Giimiishane mines and the mines
associated with them were the most important source of metals in the
Ottoman Empire. The administrative reforms favoured more intensive
exploitation, though reduced production from Balkan mines must also
have been a contributory factor. In 1644, Evliya Celebi noted that the
imperial treasury was enriched each year by the amount of 7,000 kilo-
grams of silver from Giimiishane alone, while in 1742, Ergani, which had
a steady output throughout the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries,
produced a total of 3,940 kilograms of pure silver.

Local autonomy and material prosperity were reflected mainly in the
patronage given to the arts and letters. In the eighteenth century, the
churches of Giimiishane were enlarged, rebuilt, and decorated with wall-
paintings — and, of course, they were endowed with liturgical vessels of
brightly polished silver. The rebuilding of the cathedral church of the
archbishopric was completed in 1726, and in 1730 a Greek school was
founded on the initiative of Archbishop Ignatios Phytianos. Outstanding
pupils were sent to study in Constantinople or to the great centre of Greek
and Orthodox education, Wallachia, where many Greeks from Pontos had
established themselves and were active. Foremost among the notables
and patrons of the arts were, of course, the master miners, but it was the
head of the local religious establishment, the archbishop, who set the
tone. Giimiishane became the focal point of an early renaissance of
Hellenism in Pontos, of which the dominant features were local tradition
and Orthodoxy.

The ‘blessed mines’ of Chaldia exerted a great influence over the
Orthodox community which expressed itself in financial support for
patriarchs, metropolitans, bishops, and monks making tours. Donations
made by the people of Pontos to the Holy Sepulchre in Jerusalem fill an
entire codex.

The natural consequence of the undoubted supremacy of Chaldia was
the authoritative manner in which it was exercised. Perhaps the most
characteristic and amply documented manifestation of the power of the
mines was the extension of the ecclesiastical jurisdiction of the See of
Chaldia. The Chaldian church followed everywhere in the footsteps of
members of its flock as they moved from place to place and established
new mining settlements. The diaspora of the Pontian miners owed spiri-
tual submission and rights exclusively to its own prelates. This order of
things, an irregular one in terms of canon law, brought the Archbishop of
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Chaldia into conflict with the prelacy of the districts where the miners
had settled: the metropolitans of Trebizond, Theodosioupolis (Erzurum),
Neokaisareia (Niksar), and Amida (Diyarbakir), and the Patriarch of
Antioch. Invariably Chaldia managed to prevail (for money talks), with
the help of the general master miners who were well connected at the
sultan’s court. In the case of a severe dispute, such as the one that
occurred with the Metropolitan of Trebizond, the miners of Chaldia, from
the Black Sea to Diyarbakir, threatened to lay down their tools.

The dispute with the Metropolitan of Trebizond had deeper roots, for
in effect the Archbishop of Chaldia was denying him his natural position
as leader of the Pontian Greeks. It was characteristic of the times that in
1733 Ignatios Phytianos, Archbishop of Chaldia, was appointed exarch of
the Soumela monastery, and not the Metropolitan of Trebizond. The
monastery’s bonds with the City of Silver were bonds of both spiritual kin-
ship and financial dependence. Ignatios Phytianos was descended from a
family of Soumeliot paroikot, and had studied in Wallachia with monastic
encouragement. He himself, and his successors, had the overriding moral
obligation to protect and increase the monastery’s spiritual influence.

The development of Giimiishane was determined by the limits set
upon the mining of metals by the technology of the age. Towards the
end of the eighteenth century the Chaldian ore deposits began to show
signs of exhaustion, but Giimiishane’s ascendancy was maintained by
virtue of the production of its mining dependencies. The diaspora of the
Pontian people spread ever wider. Mining colonies were established
mainly in central Asia Minor: Akdagmaden, Sim (Giimiishacikdy), Kes-
kin (Denekmaden) and, in the Taurus region: Bulgarmaden and Bere-
ketlimaden.

The greater part of the dispersion occurred as a consequence of the
two Russo-Turkish wars, fought in 1828 and 1877-1878, the migrants
moving to Kars, to Tsalka and Batum in Georgia, and to Stavroupolis
(Stavropol’) in South Russia, the trek ending in the Danubian lands.
Chaldia was almost emptied of its human content, just as it had been
depleted of its metal-bearing ores and firewood.

The Tanzimat reforms brought about the final abolition of the privi-
leges enjoyed by the master miners. There remained the prestige of the
Metropolitan of Chaldia and the wealth of silver offerings in the churches.
A part of this wealth was melted down in 1871, to pay for the new school
in the town, by now renamed Argyroupolis, a direct translation of the
Turkish Giimiishane, at the instigation of the younger generation of
Pontian teachers who had studied in Athens.

Anna Ballian
Art Historian
December 1990 Keeper, Benaki Museum

Fig. 270. Benedictory cross of
carved wood in silver-gilt and en-
amelled setting, first half of 18th c.



343

[Fig. 271. Argyroupolis, 115 km. south of Trebizond: ruins of the metropolitan cathedral of Saint
George. The large, three-aisled basilica, built in 1724-1726, retains scant traces of wall-paintings
on the west wall of the south aisle.

Among the treasures of Saint George were the banner (Fig. 268), the pectoral (Fig. 269) and the
chalice (Fig. 273).]

[Old Argyroupolis (Eski Giimiishane) was gradually abandoned in the course of
the nineteenth century. The new town, Yeni Giimiishane, was built a few kilometres
to the east on the caravan route linking the Black Sea with the Armenian Plateau,
central and southern Asia Minor, the Middle East, Persia and the Caucasus.

The now forlorn city, a vast ruin tucked away in the metal-bearing mountain,
was built some way back from the main road, for protection.

The workshops and shops in the centre of the deserted city, the town hall and
the Phrontisterion (high school), founded in 1730, the churches, monastic depen-
dencies (metochia) and rock-hewn chapels, the two-storey houses - shells and
foundations of what was once a thriving urban centre, home to 2,225 Greek, 200
Turkish and 180 Armenian families — now lie exposed to the elements.

The Treaty of Lausanne (signed on 20 January 1923) and the consequent com-
pulsory Exchange of Populations between Greece and Turkey provoked the last
phase of the great ‘Exodus’. Pontian refugees carried to Greece as many of the
treasures from the churches and monasteries of their homeland as possible. The
treasures from Argyroupolis are deposited in the Benaki Museum in Athens. They
provide telling evidence of the cultural and economic vigour of the City of Silver. ]
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Fig. 272. A pair of silver-gilt liturgical fans (hexapteryga).
Argyroupolis (Giimiishane), 1745.
H. 50 ¢m., diam. 32.5 cm.

Rivetted to the centre of the pierced-work disc of each fan is a large boss, each face of which is decorated with
religious scenes in repoussé. On one of the fans is depicted the Crucifixion and the Resurrection, on the other the
Dormition of the Mother of God and the Fountain of Life (Zoodochos Pege).

Veneration of the Zoodochos Pege was of Constantinopolitan origin and its incidence increased after 1727, the year in
which repairs were carried out to the old Byzantine hagiasma (pool of miraculous waters) at Balikli outside the
Selymbria Gate; as a natural consequence of this, the iconographic type became more widespread. It is represented
here in the austere form encountered in seventeenth-century icons, with the Virgin in bust emerging from the water
basin (the phiale), around which stand pilgrims healed by its waters. The scene is dominated by the man possessed
by a devil at the very moment the evil spirit is escaping from his mouth. The pierced-work vegetal motifs with
hatched details derive from prototypes originating in the capital; essentially they imitate European silverwork,
especially the decoration of valuable watch-cases much in vogue in seventeenth-century Constantinople. The style is
common to articles produced by both Muslim and Christian craftsmen, but was especially associated with liturgical
fans, which traditionally comprised pierced-work discs with interlaced floral motifs.

The niello inscription on the shafts reads: “These hexapteryga have been dedicated by the Most Holy Archbishop of
Chaldia, Lord Ignatios, to the All-Holy Virgin Kaniotissa for the salvation of the soul of his parents Dimitrios
Proskynites and Eugenia, in the year of the Saviour 1745, in the month of March. The work of Ioannis son of Georgios
Konstatas’.

The Virgin Kaniotissa is the church of the Dormition of the Mother of God at Kan, that is Giimiishane. Archbishop
Ignatios 11, born Kouthouris, (1734-1749), was descended from one of the first families of settlers. His early eccle-
siastical training was received at the Soumela Monastery; he completed his studies in Jerusalem under Patriarch
Dositheos Notaras. In 1744, he met the cost of the wall-paintings in the forecourt of the Soumela Monastery.
(Benaki Museum, inv. no. TA 231)
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Fig. 273. Silver-gilt chalice with cover.
Axgyroupolis (Giimiishane), 1726; the cover is dated 1727.
H. 50 cm.

This slender chalice, of typical European shape, is richly decorated with repoussé religious scenes. The European
influence is also evident in the scattered heads of cherubim, recalling Venetian chalices, and also in the pierced-
work open flowers, a motif of European ornamentation. The goldsmith’s Ottoman milieu is apparent in details such as
the cypress trees and the settings of the coloured stones. The craftsman signed his name in the traditional Byzantine
manner: ‘[by the] hand of the goldsmith Georgios’. The feature directly associated with the usual Byzantine chalice is
the hymn, central to the Holy Communion service, inscribed in niello around the rim: ‘Drink ye all of it; for this is my
blood of the New Testament, which is shed for you and for many’.

The enthroned Christ, the Virgin, Saint John, and the Crucifixion are represented on the main body of the chalice,
and busts of the Apostles and the Evangelists on the foot. The scenes on the cover, of the Hospitality of Abraham,
the Baptism, the Last Supper, and the Resurrection, enrich the iconography and stress the donor’s intention that his
gift should be something out of the ordinary. The dedicatory inscriptions read: on the foot, ‘Dedicated to the Most
Holy and Most Lauded church of Saint George in Chaldia for the salvation of the soul of the servant of God,
Stephanos Phytianos and of his wife and parents, 1726”; on the cover, ‘Dedicated to the church of Saint George by
the same Stephanos Phytianos, 1727".

Stephanos Phytianos was ‘chief metallurgist’ of the rich mining area of Torul in Chaldia and an influential person in
the mining community. He made donations towards the cost of repairs to the Choutoura Monastery, the founding of
a church in Phytiana, and the establishment of a school in Argyroupolis. The surname Phytianos indicates his place
of origin, the village of Phytiana in Torul, famed birthplace of many ‘chief metallurgists’ and churchmen. The
village is referred to as Beskilise or Baskilise, meaning ‘five churches’ or ‘head of the church’ respectively in
Turkish, in view of the fact that one patriarch, eight metropolitans, and five abbots all hailed from there.
(Benaki Museum, inv. no. TA 170)
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Fig. 274. Silver rose-water sprinkler with gilding.
Argyroupolis (Giimiishane), 1735.
H. 25.8 ¢cm.

The sprinkler is shaped like most Islamic sprinklers, with a slender neck that screws on to the spherical body
surmounted by a small ribbed ring. The decoration is in repoussé on a ring-punched ground and comprises cypress
trees, heraldic peacocks, birds, and five medallions with the busts of Christ, the Virgin, Saint John the Baptist, and
the Archangels Michael and Gabriel.

Inscriptions: “+ Property of Nikolaos, Lord of the Monasteries, son of Theodoros. In the year of Christ 1735’.
Lord of the Monasteries was the title of one of the officials in the Patriarchate of Constantinople, which in Ottoman
times was also conferred by local hierarchs upon leading members of the community. Nikolaos was apparently
responsible for the Pontic monasteries subject to the Archbishopric of Chaldia, and is known from his appearance as
witness to a deed of gift to the Holy Sepulchre ‘of six workshops directly opposite the co-operative furnaces’ of
Giimiishane.

In the sixteenth century the Greek goldsmiths of Trebizond were renowned for their skills, and it was in Trebizond
that the two great sultans, Selim I and Siileyman the Magnificent, learnt the goldsmith’s craft. According to Evliya
Celebi, the craftsmen of Trebizond were especially noted for the fine sprinklers and flasks they produced. The oldest
known example is dated 1670 and once belonged to the metropolitan church of Trebizond. The tradition of making
sprinklers as well as other articles of silverware persisted into the eighteenth century at Giimiishane, where gold-
smiths’ workshops formed a market-place of their own in the centre of the city.

(Benaki Museum, inv. no. TA 460)
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Fig. 275. Benedictory cross of carved wood
mounted in a silver-gilt and enamelled frame.
Choutoura Monastery, Chaldia, 1700.

H. 23.9 cm.

Carved wooden crosses were usually of monastic workmanship, Mount Athos being the earliest and most important
centre of production. Represented on the Choutoura Monastery cross are scenes of the Twelve Great Feasts of the
Church (Dodecaorton) within the recesses of an architectural frame. The mount has polychrome cloisonné enamels,
pearls, and semiprecious or paste gems in the style of seventeenth-century crosses common in the Balkans and
mainland Greece. The winged and crested dragons standing either side of it on two short legs, of cast silver decorated
with champlevé enamel, are akin to sixteenth-century silverware from the same region.

New decorative trends must have been transmitted to Pontos via the capital, where there had been a Pontian community
of goldsmiths and coppersmiths since at least the late sixteenth century. It may be noted that Symeon the Goldsmith
(Chrysochoos), a neo-Martyr from Trebizond, was put to death in Constantinople in the mid-seventeenth century, and
that before the Exchange of Populations, in 1924, the coppersmiths of the capital were almost exclusively Pontian
Greeks.

The inscription on the body of the dragons reads: ‘Akakios, hieromonk of Choutoura Monastery, 1700°.

The foremost monastery in the province of Chaldia, Choutoura lay very close to Argyroupolis and was under the high
patronage of the ‘chief metallurgists’ and the archbishops. It was probably first founded in the time of the Grand
Komnenoi; its re-founding around the beginning of the seventeenth century, however, was directly connected with the
exploitation of the mines in the district and with the founding of Giimiishane.

(Benaki Museum, inv. no. TA 185)
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Fig. 276. Gospelbook with silver-gilt cover.
Argyroupolis (Giimiishane), c. 1756-1765.
H. 34 em., w. 25 cm.

The Gospelbook was printed in Venice in 1728. The type of repoussé cover is characteristic of Argyroupolis
silverwork, a style found also beyond the frontiers of Chaldia and her mining colonies, in places such as the
monastery at Elegmoi in Bithynia, the Backovo Monastery in the northern foothills of the Rhodope Mountains,
and the Chozoviotissa Monastery on Amorgos.

Analysis of details of the ornamentation illustrates the selective tendency of Argyroupolis goldsmiths. The design
follows that of the Islamic type of book cover with a central medallion and corner pieces. The scenes of the Descent
into Hell and the Elevation of the Holy Cross are in the post-Byzantine iconographic tradition, but the large full-
blown flowers betray the influence of Central European Baroque.

These motifs reached Chaldia via Transylvania and Wallachia. One of the treasures of the archiepiscopal church of
Argyroupolis was a small Bible with silver-gilt cover signed by the master craftsman of Sibiu, Sebastian Hann. The
cast metal clasps on the Gospelbook are exact copies of the clasps made by Hann.

The dedication is inscribed on the scrolls held by the Prophets: ‘Phernes Apostolos, [son] of Rvanta (?) dedicated the
Gospelbook to the (church of the) Holy and Life-Giving Cross’. An entry in the codex of the church of the Dormition of
the Mother of God in Argyroupolis states that between 1756 and 1765 Apostolos Phernes donated 167 silver dirthems. It
was probably during these years that he dedicated the Gospelbook and its cover to the church of the Holy Cross.
(Benaki Museum, inv. no. TA 498)
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Fig. 277. Icon of Saint Gregory of Nyssa,
embroidered with gold thread.
Trebizond, late 17th c.

H. 62.5 cm., w. 42.5 cm.

The icon of Saint Gregory of Nyssa, depicted seated on a throne at the centre, is embroidered on a dark red silk
ground with gold and silver wire. Represented in the upper zone is the Deesis, with Christ as Great High Priest
flanked by the Virgin, Saint John the Baptist, and two archangels. In the lower zone are four hierarchs and at the
sides four saints. The latter — Saint Andrew, Saint Paraskevi, Saint Kyriaki, and Saint Anastasia the Deliverer from
Poison (Pharmakolytria) — correspond to the side-chapels of the metropolitan church of Trebizond, each of which is
dedicated to one of them. The lay-out of the decoration is reminiscent of icons of saints surrounded by scenes from
their life; however, the single figures of saints under an arcade is a typical feature of Byzantine and post-Byzantine
metalwork. Church embroidery draws upon painting for its iconographic models but, from a technical point of view,
the gold or silver thread and the scenes rendered in low relief are in direct imitation of silverwork.

In 1665, at a time when tension and persecution were rife in Pontos, the metropolitan church of Saint Philip of
Trebizond was sacked by Muslims and in 1674 it was converted into a small mosque. The persecutions resulted in
the flight of many Christians to mountainous Chaldia, where they manned the ore mines. The icon was embroidered
for the new metropolitan church of Saint Gregory of Nyssa. It is the earliest of a number of examples that prove the
existence in Trebizond of a workshop producing church embroideries.

(Benaki Museum, inv. no. TA 40)
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